THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**Jun 22 2020**

Hon. Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

**SC Court of Appeals**

C.A. No.: 2018-CP-40-02425  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000648

Jefferson Davis, Jr. ....Appellant,

v.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE ERR IN HIS INTERPRETATION OF THE PLAIN LANGUAGE IN THE WRITTEN ORDER OF ANOTHER TRIAL COURT JUDGE?
2. SHOULD PLAINTIFF BE GIVEN AN OPPORTUNITY TO SERVE HIS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND THE 31 NEWLY NAMED JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE?

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is a simple matter of finding what the following Order mean:

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is granted in part and denied in part.

**IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED** each John Doe referenced in the complaint shall be specifically named and served. This court allows the plaintiff 15 days to appropriately amend the pleadings.

**AND IT IS SO ORDERED.**

s/ The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin  
Presiding Judge

The Order first instructed Plaintiff / Appellant that “**each John Doe referenced in the complaint shall be specifically named and served.**” (R. p. 8.) Plaintiff did exactly that by naming 31 additional defendants in his timely filed First Amended Complaint. (R. pp. 31-75.)

The Order then, as with all amended complaints, gave a deadline to file his amended pleading by stating “[t]his court allows the plaintiff 15 days to appropriate amend the

pleadings.” (R. p. 8.) Plaintiff / Appellant did exactly that by timely filing his First Amended Complaint on the final day and started the process of serving defendants pursuant to SCRCP, Rules 3 & 4.

Nowhere however does the Order state that the 31 newly named John Doe defendants must be served within that same 15-day period. Nowhere in the Order is there any discussion for a need to serve the 31 newly named John Doe defendants in an expedited manner. Had the Court intended the 31 newly named John Doe Defendants also be “served” within 15 days, the Court would have said “named and served *within 15 days*”. But, the Court did not give a deadline on service. The court only gave a deadline as to when the First Amended Complaint must be filed, which Plaintiff / Appellant complied with in full, thereafter serving the defendants pursuant to SCRCP, Rules 3 & 4.

It is well established that one trial court judge cannot overrule an Order of another trial court judge. Judge Doyet A. Early interpreted the Order by Judge DeAndrea G. Benjamin to require Plaintiff / Appellant to serve all 31 newly named John Doe defendants within 15 days. As such he felt compelled to dismiss the 31 newly named John Doe defendants and strike the First Amended Complaint.

South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules 3 & 4, governs the process and timing of service in this matter and the 31 newly named John Doe defendants should not have been dismissed with prejudice.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law to be reviewed by this Court de novo. *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). Likewise, the interpretation of the plain language of a lower court’s written order would be de novo.

## FACTS

**On May 3, 2018**, Appellant / Plaintiff Davis brought this action alleging nine different causes of action against two named defendants and John Doe(s) 1 – 20. **(R. p. 17.)**

**On June 7, 2018**, the named defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss. **(R. p. 144.)**

**On October 1, 2018**, a motion hearing was held on the named defendants Motion to Dismiss. **(R. pp. 378-411.)** The two named defendants’ motion to dismiss was granted in part and dismissed in part. Plaintiff was given 15 days to file his first amended complaint. **(R. p. 8.)**

**At the October 1, 2018 motion hearing**, Judge DeAndrea G. Benjamin expressed concern about naming the John Does. **(R. p. 403.)** Along with giving Plaintiff 15 days to file his first amended complaint, Judge Benjamin directed Plaintiff to name the John Doe defendants. **(R. p. 8.)** There was no discussion at the October 1<sup>st</sup> hearing as to “when” the newly to be named John Doe defendants were to be physically served. **(R. pp. 378-411, Transcript.)** There was no discussion at the October 1<sup>st</sup> hearing as to any need for an expedited deadline to physically serve the newly to be named John Doe defendants. **(R. pp. 378-411, Transcript.)**

**On October 29, 2018**, the Court issued its Order. **(R. pp. 1-5.)**

**On October 30, 2018**, the Court issued an Amended Order clarifying a minor date issue raised by Plaintiff in calculating the necessary date by which his amended complaint would need to filed. **(R. pp. 6-9.)** Nothing else in the Order was amended.

The Order and Amended Order (R. pp. 4 & 8) both stated the following CONCLUSION:

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants' Motion to Dismiss is granted in part and denied in part.

**IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED** each John Doe referenced in the complaint shall be specifically named and served. This court allows the plaintiff 15 days to appropriately amend the pleadings.

**AND IT IS SO ORDERED.**