THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 12 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000648
Civil Action No. 2018-CP-40-02425

Jefferson Davis, Jr. Appellant,

v.

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

Fourth, further reinforcement of Judge Early’s interpretation that the 15-day deadline required service on the new defendants can be found in the fact that such a ruling advances the orderly administration of justice without allowing for excessive delay and disparate treatment of

¹³ In *Bowman*, the plaintiff timely filed and served an amended complaint within 10 days after the order was filed. The opinion indicates, however, that if (as here) the amended complaint had *not* been filed and served within the time frame set by the trial court, dismissal would have been appropriate. *See Bowman*, 335 S.C. at 92, 515 S.E.2d at 261 (“[W]e find the appellants had ten days from the date the order was entered by the clerk of court to amend their complaint before the Hospital could be dismissed from the action based upon noncompliance with the order.”).

different defendants, and thus is the most likely and most sensible interpretation. In contrast, Mr. Davis' strained interpretation of Judge Benjamin's Amended Order would lead to an absurd result that cannot be correct. In his view, Judge Benjamin left him at liberty to decide if and when to serve the defendants, perhaps waiting a few weeks to serve some, waiting another month or two to serve a few others, and waiting a year or more to serve—or maybe never serve—the rest. (This is, of course, exactly what Mr. Davis did.) The inequities and inefficiencies of such a scenario are so plain that no judge would encourage or allow it. In sum, Judge Early correctly interpreted Judge Benjamin's Amended Order, which required Mr. Davis to file and serve his Amended Complaint within 15 days.

C. Mr. Davis' failure to serve his amended pleading by the trial court's deadline warrants the dismissal of his new claims.

A party's failure to comply with a trial court's conditions for the assertion of new claims warrants dismissal of those claims. The instant appeal presents precisely such a situation. Judge Benjamin, like many judges allowing or ordering a party to amend its pleading, set a deadline for the filing and service of the amended pleading. Mr. Davis missed the deadline. Therefore, under the applicable Rule and under well-established and long-standing South Carolina law, dismissal of his new claims was an appropriate sanction. *See, e.g.*, Rule 41(b), SCRCPP (stating dismissal of an action or claim is warranted when a plaintiff fails to comply with an order of the court); *Bowman v. Richland Mem. Hosp.*, 335 S.C. 88, 92, 515 S.E.2d 259, 261 (Ct. App. 1999) (stating that, when the trial court had set a deadline for plaintiff to amend the complaint, the plaintiff "had ten days from the date the order was entered by the clerk of court to amend their complaint before the Hospital could be dismissed from the action based upon noncompliance with the order"); *Therens v. Faircloth*, 291 S.C. 451, 354 S.E.2d 54 (Ct. App. 1987) (noting it was "clear that the Circuit Court had the authority to dismiss" the plaintiff's suit due to plaintiff's failure to comply with a

prior order permitting the re-filing of his claims) (citing Rule 41(b), SCRCPP); *Harvin v. Comm. Credit Corp.*, 275 S.C. 14, 266 S.E.2d 789 (1980) (holding that where the circuit court had given plaintiff 20 days to amend the complaint, plaintiff's failure to do so was in effect a final dismissal, and no subsequent court or court could modify or extend that time limit); *Brown v. Easterling*, 59 S.C. 472, 38 S.E. 118 (1901) (holding an amended complaint should have been dismissed because the trial court had ordered the plaintiff to *serve* the amended complaint within 20 days and the plaintiff failed to do so, and noting also that when a trial judge fixes a time within which an amended pleading must be served, once that time passes the effect is final and cannot be modified or extended by another judge); *see also* *Griffis v. Cherry Hill Estates, LLC*, No. 2009-CP-07-06054, 2010 WL 10079931 (S.C. Ct. of Comm. Pl., Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, Oct. 27, 2010) (noting if a party failed "to serve an Amended Complaint on or before November 14, 2010, the above referenced causes of action shall be dismissed with prejudice."); Rules 37(b)(2)(C) and 41(b) (permitting dismissal when a party fails to comply with a court order); *Smith v. The Gillette Co.*, No. 2004-CP-40-0938, 2005 WL 5712360 (S.C. Ct. of Comm. Pl., July 27, 2005, Hon. Casey Manning) (dismissing case with prejudice due to plaintiff's failure timely to comply with court order); *see also generally* Argument IV.A, *infra* (citing authorities demonstrating that dismissal with prejudice is appropriate in situations like the instant lawsuit).

Mr. Davis' status as a *pro se* plaintiff does not exempt him from dismissal for his failure to comply with Judge Benjamin's order.¹⁴ *See Goodson v. Am. Bankers Ins. Co. of Florida*, 295 S.C. 400, 368 S.E.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1988) ("[A] party has a duty to monitor the progress of his case. Lack of familiarity with the legal proceeding is unacceptable and the court will not hold a

¹⁴ As noted above, Mr. Davis' repeated claims of *pro se* status should not obscure the fact that he is a graduate of this state's leading law school and is licensed to practice law in a sister state.

layman to any lesser standard than is applied to an attorney.”). Judge Benjamin informed him, both orally at the hearing and in her written Amended Order, of the requirement to file and serve the Amended Complaint within 15 days. Judge Early properly ruled that his failure to do so warranted dismissal. This Court should affirm the dismissal.

II. The dismissal of Mr. Davis’ claims against Cato Institute and Mr. Rich is also supported by the additional sustaining ground that the Amended Complaint fails adequately to allege any facts that could give rise to their liability.

Even if this Court were to disagree with Judge Early’s interpretation of the deadline for service found in Judge Benjamin’s Amended Order, the Court should nevertheless affirm the dismissal of Mr. Davis’ claims against Cato Institute and Mr. Rich for an additional and independent reason, namely that Mr. Davis has not pled any facts that could support the claims he has asserted. As a prevailing party below, Cato Institute and Mr. Rich may assert additional grounds to sustain the ruling below, even if (as here) those grounds were not relied on by the trial court in its ruling. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”); *I’on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (“Under the present rules, a respondent—the “winner” in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.”); J. Toal, *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 62 (2d ed. 2002) (same). As explained more fully below, such additional sustaining grounds are present in the instant appeal.

A. The Amended Complaint fails to allege any wrongdoing by Cato Institute.

Dismissal of any and all claims against Cato Institute is required because the Amended Complaint never even mentions Cato Institute other than in the caption, the introductory section

naming the defendants, and as a former employer of co-defendant Jason Bedrick. *See* Amend. Compl. at ¶¶ 6, 16, 24, and 162 (R. 33, 35, 37, and 60). Neither in those paragraphs nor anywhere else does the Amended Complaint assert any factual allegations about *any* of Cato Institute’s actions, much less any allegation of wrongdoing by Cato Institute or allegations of conduct that was directed against Mr. Davis and caused him harm.

In the absence of any factual allegation of *any* action (much less wrongdoing) by Cato Institute, the Amended Complaint fails to state any claims upon which relief can be granted, and dismissal is warranted. *See* Rule 8(a), SCRCRCP (requiring a pleading to set forth facts showing the pleader is entitled to relief from the defendant); Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCRCP (stating a claim may be dismissed for failing to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action); *Rice-Marko v. Wachovia Corp.*, 398 S.C. 301, 728 S.E.2d 61 (Ct. App. 2012) (affirming the dismissal of claims where the plaintiffs “failed to allege any facts” that could give rise to liability); *Driggers v. Sherouse*, No. 2011-CP-45-00648, 2012 WL 10861804, at *2 (S.C. Ct. of Common Pleas, Williamsburg County, Hon. Ralph F. Cothran, Jr., July 25, 2012) (“To begin, the Court dismisses the complaint as to the individual justices of the Supreme Court because the complaint fails to allege that the justices have done anything wrong. . . . Given the absence of allegations showing any wrongdoing by the four justices identified in the Complaint, the Court dismisses the complaint as to the individual justices of the Supreme Court.”);¹⁵ *Johnson v. Thomas*, No. 2000-CP-10-001015, 2001 WL 35947186 (S.C. Ct. of Common Pleas, Charleston County, Hon. A. Victor Rawls, Jan. 12, 2001) (dismissing claims against two defendants “because the Complaint does not

¹⁵ Judge Cothran’s dismissal was subsequently affirmed by this Court in an unpublished opinion. Because unpublished appellate court opinions are not to be cited, *see* Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR, Cato Institute and Mr. Rich mention the affirmance without citation merely to acknowledge the subsequent procedural history of the trial court ruling cited above.

set forth *any* factual allegations against those Defendants, let alone any allegations which would establish the elements of any cognizable cause of action against them.”) (emphasis in original); *see also Potter v. Clark*, 497 F.2d 1206, 1207 (7th Cir. 1974) (“Where a complaint alleges no specific act or conduct on the part of the defendant and the complaint is silent as to the defendant except for his name appearing in the caption, the complaint is properly dismissed, even under the liberal construction to be given *pro se* complaints.”) (citing *Brzozowski v. Randall*, 281 F. Supp. 306, 312 (E.D. Pa. 1968)); *Newkirk v. Circuit Court*, No. 3:14CV372–HEH, 2014 WL 4072212 (E.D. Va. Aug.14, 2014) (ruling the complaint was subject to summary dismissal with prejudice when there were no factual allegations against named defendants within the body of the pleading); *McCray v. S.C. Dept. of Corr.*, No. 1:19-1574-TLW-SVH, 2019 WL 4043958 (D.S.C. June 28, 2019) (recommending same) adopted by 2019 WL 4038308 (D.S.C. Aug. 27, 2019).

Mr. Davis’ Amended Complaint fails to allege any actions by Cato Institute, much less actions directed at him or causing him harm, and thus dismissal is warranted under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to allege facts sufficient to support any claim to relief.

B. The Amended Complaint fails to allege any basis upon which Cato Institute could be vicariously liable for the alleged wrongdoing of others.

As noted above, the Amended Complaint does not include any factual allegations regarding any action performed at any time by Cato Institute, much less a wrongful action directed against Mr. Davis. Nor does the Amended Complaint plead any basis upon which Cato Institute could be vicariously liable for the actions of others. A corporate entity cannot be held liable for the wrongdoing of another except in certain limited situations not present here. The sole—and exceedingly tenuous—connection alleged between Cato Institute and any alleged harm to Mr. Davis is the assertion that co-defendant Jason Bedrick, who was previously allegedly employed

by Cato Institute, “has at Cato . . . made false and defamatory statements about Plaintiff Davis and his group.” *See* Amend. Compl. at ¶¶ 24, 162 (R. 37, 60).

Even assuming *arguendo* the truth of these allegations (which Cato Institute and Mr. Rich do not concede), they fail to assert a basis upon which Cato Institute could be liable. “[A]n employer is vicariously liable for injuries to a third party resulting from torts its employee commits *within the scope of employment.*” *Froneburger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 52, 748 S.E.2d 625, 633 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis added). The Amended Complaint does not allege that Mr. Bedrick’s alleged defamatory statements were made in the scope of his employment with Cato Institute, nor is it reasonable to infer that the intended scope of his employment was to engage in intentional tortious conduct. Accordingly, because the Amended Complaint fails to allege Cato Institute is vicariously liable and, in any event, fails to plead facts sufficient to support a claim of vicarious liability, Cato Institute cannot be liable for Mr. Bedrick’s or anyone else’s alleged wrongdoing.

C. The Amended Complaint fails to allege any facts supporting any claim against Mr. Rich under any of the causes of action asserted.

Dismissal of any and all claims against Mr. Rich is required because even assuming the Amended Complaint’s *de minimis* references to him are true (which is not conceded), they are insufficient to establish Mr. Davis’ entitlement to relief. None of them allege any specific action or omission by Mr. Rich that affected or injured Mr. Davis. Rather, the allegations against Mr. Rich assert only (a) that he “funds and directs the operations and activities” of various other non-profit defendants and their employees, (b) that prior to 2014, Mr. Rich and other Defendants were engaged in undefined but supposedly “troubling” activities, (c) that in 2015, a California commission found he failed to comply with a campaign finance disclosure requirement, (d) that he has contributed money to South Carolina non-profits and entities including several independent schools,

and (e) he is or was allegedly a client of the Nexsen Pruet law firm. *See* Amend. Compl. at ¶¶ 6, 45, 163–68 (R. 33, 41, 60–61).

Even assuming *arguendo* the truth of these allegations, none of them alleges any wrongdoing by Mr. Rich himself that affected Mr. Davis, and none of them are sufficient bases upon which any liability could be imposed on Mr. Rich. Accordingly, dismissal of the claims against him is warranted. *See* Argument II.A, *supra* (citing Rules and cases in support of this argument).

D. The Amended Complaint fails to allege any basis upon which Mr. Rich could be vicariously liable for the alleged wrongdoing of others.

As noted above, the Amended Complaint fails to allege any wrongdoing by Mr. Rich that affected Mr. Davis. Nor does the Amended Complaint allege any basis on which he can be liable for the alleged wrongs that others supposedly inflicted on Mr. Davis. The Amended Complaint does not allege that Mr. Rich employed any of the alleged wrongdoers or that he instructed, compelled, or participated in any alleged act of wrongdoing. In the absence of such an allegation, Mr. Davis has failed to assert any claim for which Mr. Rich could be vicariously liable. *See Cherry v. Myers Timber Co., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 596, 601, 745 S.E.2d 405, 407 (Ct. App. 2013) (noting the general rule that one can be vicariously liable only if he has the power to control or direct the actions of another, and if the servant’s actions were, in fact, taken at the direction of the alleged master); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Agency § 250 (1958) (stating vicarious tort liability arises only where one engaging another to achieve a result controls or has the right to control the details of the latter’s physical movements). Because the Amended Complaint fails to allege Mr. Rich is vicariously liable for the acts of others and, in any event, fails to plead facts necessary to support a claim of vicarious liability—*e.g.*, facts like employment, scope of employment, or control, instruction, or participation in the specific acts that allegedly harmed Mr. Davis—Mr. Rich cannot be liable for anyone else’s alleged wrongdoing.

III. The dismissal of Mr. Davis’ claims against Cato Institute and Mr. Rich is also supported by the additional sustaining ground that the causes of action he attempts to assert are fatally deficient.

Even if Mr. Davis had timely served his Amended Complaint (which he did not) and even if that pleading alleged facts supporting his claims (which it does not), this Court should nevertheless affirm the dismissal of those claims for another independent ground appearing in the Record,¹⁶ namely that Mr. Davis’ claims are legally and fatally deficient.

As an initial matter, each of Mr. Davis’ claims are so generically drafted as to lack the requisite specificity necessary to establish cognizable causes of action. Each of them is asserted against “Defendants” generically, presumably including defendants against whom not a single factual allegation has been pled. *See* Amended Compl. ¶¶ 221, 226, 229, 234, 236, 238, 243, 250 (R. 69–72, 74); *see also id.* ¶ 243 (R. 73) (asserting claim generically against the “Corporate Defendants,” who are never identified). Furthermore, each of the claims suffers from additional, specific defects summarized below.

Mr. Davis’ *first* claim—defamation per se and per quod—fails because it does not identify any specific false statements (much less ones made by Cato Institute or Mr. Rich) and does not identify to whom any such false statements were made, in what respects they were false, or any injury or harm he has suffered as a result of the alleged defamation. *See id.* ¶ 224 (R. 69) (merely baldly asserting that “Defendant [sic] is entitled to” damages). In the absence of such specifics, Mr. Davis cannot recover. *See Harris v. Tietex Int., Ltd.*, 417 S.C. 533, 790 S.E.2d 411 (Ct. App. 2016) (noting the plaintiff’s “amended complaint did not identify the specific statements on which

¹⁶ See generally the introductory paragraph of Argument II, *supra*, citing authorities in support of Respondents’ ability to rely on additional grounds to sustain the ruling below.

his defamation claim was based” and thus concluding there was no basis upon which he could recover).

Mr. Davis’ *second* claim—defamation by innuendo—fails for the same reasons. *See id.* ¶¶ 225–27 (R. 69–70) (failing to assert specific incident of defamation or any resulting damage, but instead simply claiming “Defendant [sic] is entitled to” damages); *Harris*, 417 S.C. 533, 790 S.E.2d 411. This claim further fails because it is a patently obvious attempt to assert a cause of action not cognizable in South Carolina, namely a claim for false light publicity. *See* Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 226 (claiming defendants made statements “about Defendant [sic] which placed him in a false light”). Indeed, this claim is essentially identical to the claim for false light publicity previously dismissed by Judge Benjamin *without leave to replead it*. *Compare* Compl. ¶¶ 38–40 (R. 26) *with* Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 225–27; *see also* Amended Order at 2 (R. 69–70) (dismissing Mr. Davis’ second claim without leave to amend). Mr. Davis’ attempt to paper over the true nature of his claim by slapping a new label on it should not be allowed to disguise the fact that it is, at bottom, a claim not recognized in this state. *See Brown v. Pearson*, 326 S.C. 409, 422, 483 S.E.2d 427, 484 (Ct. App. 1997).

Mr. Davis’ *third* claim—invasion of privacy—fails because it does not identify who encroached on his privacy, how they did so, what non-public information they discovered, in what way it was publicized, and what damages Mr. Davis sustained. *See generally Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 477–78, 514 S.E.2d 126, 130–31 (1999). Further, this claim, which is nearly word-for-word identical to the third claim asserted in Mr. Davis’ original complaint, *compare* Compl. ¶¶ 41–45 (R. 27) *with* Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 228–32 (R. 70), *still* suffers from the same defect that Judge Benjamin had previously identified and instructed Mr. Davis to correct. *See* Amended Order at 2 (“The third claim is invasion of privacy through

publicity. Plaintiff has not pled facts sufficient to constitute any cause of action for invasion of privacy because Plaintiff failed to allege that the information was publicized in any way. The court will allow Plaintiff the opportunity to amend the complaint to detail the element of publicity, *if plaintiff is unable to do so, this motion to dismiss will be granted.*) (emphasis added). Because Mr. Davis did not even *attempt*, much less succeed, in rectifying the defect specifically identified by Judge Benjamin, dismissal of the claim is warranted.

Mr. Davis' *fourth* claim—negligence—fails because nowhere in his Amended Complaint does he allege Cato Institute or Mr. Rich (or any other defendant, for that matter) owed him any duty, breached said duty, and thereby proximately caused him damages. In the absence of such allegations, Mr. Davis has not stated a viable claim for negligence. *See Doe ex rel. Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 322, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001) (“To state a cause of action for negligence, the plaintiff must allege facts which demonstrate the concurrence of three elements . . .”).

Mr. Davis' *fifth* claim—intentional infliction of emotional distress—fails because Mr. Davis has not pled any facts to support the requisite elements of the claim, namely that Cato Institute or Mr. Rich took any act to “intentionally or recklessly” inflicted emotional distress that was so extreme or outrageous that it exceeded all possible bounds and which no reasonable person could be expected to endure it. *See Hainer v. Am. Med. Intern., Inc.*, 320 S.C. 316, 324, 465 S.E.2d 112, 117 (Ct. App. 1995). In the absence of such supporting factual allegations, the claim cannot lie.

Mr. Davis' *sixth* claim—tortious interference with prospective contractual relations—fails because Mr. Davis' amended pleading does not identify any reasonable expectation of benefit from any identifiable *contract* (whether actual or prospective) with any identifiable person. In the absence of a real contract and actual interference with it, the claim is fatally defective:

Upon a review of our limited South Carolina precedent, a cause of action for intentional interference with prospective contractual

relations generally stands following the loss of an identifiable contract or expectation. . . .

The plaintiff must actually demonstrate, at the outset, that he had a *truly prospective (or potential) contract with a third party*. This does not require plaintiff to prove the tort in his initial pleadings; rather, the allegations must present facts that give rise to some reasonable expectation of benefits from the alleged lost contracts.

United Ed. Distrib., LLC v. Ed. Testing Servs., 350 S.C. 7, 14–15, 564 S.E.2d 324, 328–29 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming dismissal of claim for tortious interference with prospective economic advantage) (emphasis added). Here, the Amended Complaint has alleged no facts sufficient to support a claim for supposed contracts that were disrupted by the unspecified “Defendants” alleged wrongdoing, much less by Cato Institute and Mr. Rich. Furthermore, this is the same defect previously expressly identified by Judge Benjamin in her Amended Order, which dismissed this claim *without leave to replead it*. See Amend. Order at 2 (R. 7) (“The sixth claim is tortious interference with contractual relations, based on the arguments of counsel this matter does not involve any contracts, therefore this motion to dismiss is granted.”). Not only has Mr. Davis repled the claim without leave; he didn’t even bother to remedy the flaw previously identified by Judge Benjamin. Compare Compl. ¶¶ 50–52 (R. 28) with Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 237–39 (R. 71–72). Accordingly, it should be dismissed. Again.

Mr. Davis’ *seventh* claim—unfair trade practices—fails because he has not pled facts indicating Cato Institute or Mr. Rich (or any other defendant, for that matter) has engaged in unfair competition or deceptive acts *in trade or commerce* as required and defined by the Unfair Trade Practice Act and case law interpreting that Act. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10(b), -20(a); *Health Promotion Specialists, LLC v. S.C. Bd. of Dentistry*, 403 S.C. 623, 638–39, 743 S.E.2d 808, 816 (2013) (holding the SCUTPA applies *only* in the context of “trade or commerce,” meaning “business and consumer transactions” involving the sale or distribution of services, property, and

commodities). In addition, Mr. Davis fails to identify any deception, much less a resulting injury, that he has suffered as a result of the alleged unfair trade practices. *See* Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 240–44 (R. 72). Furthermore, Judge Benjamin already dismissed this claim *without leave to replead it*. *See* Amend. Order at 2–3 (R. 7–8) (“The seventh claim is unfair trade practice, based on the allegations and arguments of counsel this matter does not involve trade or commerce under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practice Act, therefore this motion to dismiss is granted.”). Undeterred by Judge Benjamin’s ruling, Mr. Davis has repled the claim verbatim. *Compare* Compl. ¶¶ 53–57 (R. 28–29) *with* Amend. Compl. ¶¶ 240–44 (R. 72). Accordingly, this claim should be dismissed yet again.

Mr. Davis’ *eighth* claim—“pierce the corporate veil”—fails because nowhere in the Amended Complaint does Mr. Davis claim or allege facts demonstrating the requisite elements of the equitable relief of piercing the corporate veil, namely that a specific entity is undercapitalized, had non-functioning officers or directors, lacked corporate records, and the like. *Sturkie v. Sifly*, 280 S.C. 453, 457–58, 313 S.E.2d 316, 318–19 (Ct. App. 1984) (citing *Dewitt Truck Brokers, Inc. v. W. Ray Flemming Fruit Co.*, 540 F.2d 681 (4th Cir. 1976)). Indeed, the Amended Complaint does not even identify which corporate entity(ies) are allegedly alter egos or of whom. In addition, this claim fails to allege any damage caused to Mr. Davis as a result of the purported conflation of corporate and individuals interests. In the absence of such facts, identification, or resulting injury, relief cannot be granted on this claim, and its dismissal is warranted. *See id.*

Mr. Davis’ *ninth* claim—conspiracy—fails, not only because he has not alleged any facts about Cato Institute or Mr. Rich that would support this claim, but the assertions in this claim specifically cannot apply to them. The claim for conspiracy is expressly aimed at the “Defendants” who are “senior political figures.” *See* Amend. Compl. ¶ 252 (R. 74). Neither Cato Institute nor

Mr. Rich fall within this category. Cato Institute is a non-partisan, non-profit think tank. Mr. Rich is an individual who has never held political office. Further, the claim fails against all the defendants because it fails to allege additional conspiratorial acts separate from the other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint. *See Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 115–16, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 2009) (“In a civil conspiracy claim, one must plead additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint, and the failure to properly plead such acts will merit the dismissal of the claim.”).

In sum, the claims Mr. Davis attempts to assert are fatally deficient. Some are not cognizable in South Carolina; others fail to plead required elements; others fail to allege any damages arising from the claimed wrongdoing; yet others were already dismissed by Judge Benjamin without leave to replead ; and all of them are pled so generically as to fall woefully short of the pleading requirements imposed by the Rules and applicable case law. Accordingly, Judge Early’s dismissal of the claims against the new defendants is supported by the additional sustaining ground that the Amended Complaint fails to assert any claims on which relief could be granted.

IV. The trial court did not err by dismissing Mr. Davis’ claims with (rather than without) prejudice, particularly when he had already been permitted to amend, and when neither that amendment nor his post-dismissal filings identified any facts sufficient to support a claim.

Finally, Mr. Davis argues his failure to comply with Judge Benjamin’s Amended Order should be excused and he should be given yet *another* bite at the apple. *See* Brief of Appellant at 9–10. For the reasons explained below, Mr. Davis’ argument falls flat.

A. The Rules and precedent support dismissal with prejudice when a party fails to comply with judicial conditions placed on the ability to amend.

As explained above, a party’s failure to comply with conditions, deadlines, or requirements imposed by the court on the party’s ability to amend warrants dismissal. *See* Argument I.C, *supra*.

The relevant Rule and case law, in fact, go even further and indicates that in such circumstances, the dismissal should be with prejudice. *See, e.g.*, Rule 41(b), SCRCF (“For failure of the plaintiff to . . . comply with . . . any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him. . . . Unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision . . . operates as *an adjudication upon the merits.*”) (emphasis added); *Georganne Apparel, Inc. v. Todd*, 303 S.C. 87, 399 S.E.2d 16 (Ct. App. 1990) (affirming trial court’s dismissal with prejudice when the plaintiff filed an amended complaint that failed to comply with the trial court’s prior order imposing specific limitations on the reassertion of his claims); *Harvin v. Comm. Credit Corp.*, 275 S.C. 14, 266 S.E.2d 789 (1980) (holding that when the circuit court had previously given plaintiff 20 days to amend complaint, plaintiff’s failure to do so required a “final” dismissal); *see also Doe v. City of Duncan*, 417 S.C. 277, 286, 789 S.E.2d 602, 606 (Ct. App. 2016) (affirming dismissal with prejudice for failure timely to serve);¹⁷ *Smith v. The Gillette Co.*, No. 2004-CP-40-0938, 2005 WL 5712360 (S.C. Ct. of Comm. Pl., July 27, 2005, Hon. Casey Manning) (dismissing case with prejudice due to plaintiff’s failure timely to comply with court order).

In the instant proceeding, Mr. Davis failed to comply with a prior order of the court. That failure warranted dismissal, and—as explained by the foregoing authorities—that dismissal was a final adjudication on the merits, *i.e.*, the trial court appropriately dismissed with prejudice. This result is not only permissible (and indeed required) under the Rules and precedent; it is just. Mr. Davis has had ample opportunity to air his grievances, has already been given a second chance to do so, and had ample warning of the consequences of failing to comply with Judge Benjamin’s

¹⁷ The Record on Appeal in *Doe* contains the trial court’s order, which states the dismissal was with prejudice. *See Doe v. City of Duncan*, No. 2008-CP-42-0475, Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss at 1 and 3 (S.C. Ct. of Comm. Pleas, Spartanburg County, Judge Cole, Nov. 1, 2012).

ruling. The grace sometimes shown to *pro se* defendants is not limitless, and Mr. Davis (a licensed lawyer) has exhausted it. The trial court did not err or abuse its discretion by dismissing his claims against the new defendants with prejudice.

B. The general rule that a plaintiff should be given a chance to amend prior to dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is inapplicable here.

In some situations involving a procedural posture different from the instant lawsuit, there is a general rule that “[w]hen a trial court finds a complaint fails ‘to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action’ under Rule 12(b)(6), the court should give the plaintiff an opportunity to amend the complaint pursuant to Rule 15(a) before filing the final order of dismissal.” *Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cnty.*, 426 S.C. 175, 179, 826 S.E.2d 585, 587 (2019) (citations omitted). As explained below, however, that rule is not applied in situations like the one presented in this appeal and, even if it were, an exception prevents its application here.

First, the general rule favoring amendment prior to final dismissal applies only when a court dismisses *pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim*. See *Skydive, supra*. Accordingly, it does not apply here because Judge Early did not dismiss the suit on that basis. See Order (R. 10–13). Rather, he dismissed the suit due to Mr. Davis’ failure to comply with the deadline set by Judge Benjamin. *Id.* Accordingly, the general rule set out in *Skydive* does not apply in the instant proceeding.

Second, to the extent the trial court *could* have relied on Mr. Davis’ failure to state a claim (and to the extent this Court relies on that failure as an additional sustaining ground), the general rule favoring a chance to amend *still* does not apply here because *Judge Benjamin had already done so* and the amended pleading still failed to identify or allege any plausible claims or any facts sufficient to support any claims or theories under which Cato Institute or Mr. Rich could be liable. While South Carolina courts may be inclined to allow plaintiffs a second bite at the apple, see *Skydive*, 426 S.C. at 179, 826 S.E.2d at 587, those chances are not unlimited, and there is no judicial

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